68,987

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.:



ROBERT LACY PARKER,

Appellant,

vs.

JUL: 7 1986 CLERK, SUPREME COURT By\_\_\_\_\_\_ Deputy Clerk

THE STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT OF FLORIDA IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROBERT J. LINK, Esquire 353 East Forsyth Street Jacksonville, Florida 32202 Phone: (904) 354-4641

Attorney for Appellant

##

## INTRODUCTION

The Appellant, Robert Lacy Parker, was the Movant in the trial court below, and was the Defendant in the original trial in this cause. All parties will be referred to as they appeared in the original trial of this proceeding. All emphasis is supplied unless otherwise indicated. The symbol "R. " shall designate the three volumes labeled "Transcript of Record" in the direct appeal of this cause; symbol "T. " shall designate the stenographic the transcript of the in-court proceedings in the original The symbol "RP. " shall designate the volume trial. designated from the post-conviction motion hearings. The symbol "TP. " shall designate the transcript of the hearing conducted in the post-conviction motions.

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 28, 1983, the Defendant began his trial on an indictment charging three counts of first degree murder. (R. 133) On March 9, 1983, the jury returned a verdict of guilty as charged as to Counts One and Two, and guilty of third degree murder as to Count Three. (R. 409-411; T. 2307). On March 14, 1983, an advisory sentencing proceeding was conducted before the jury. (T. 2313-2315) The jury specifically found that the mitigating circumstances outweighed the aggravating circumstances and recommended sentences of life imprisonment. (R. 434-435; T. 2516-2517). On April 29, 1983, the trial court judge sentenced the Defendant to life imprisonment on Count One, death on Count

Two, and fifteen years imprisonment on Count Three, to run consecutively. (R. 470-475; T. 2577-2578).

The convictions and sentence were affirmed by this Court on September 6, 1984, and re-hearing was denied on December 3, 1984. Parker v. State, 458 So. 2d 750 (Fla. On May 19, 1986, the Defendant filed a Motion to 1984). Vacate Judgment and Sentence with the trial court. (RP. 7-41). On June 20, 1986, a death warrant was signed and execution was scheduled for July 15, 1986, at 7:00 a.m. On June 26, 1986, a Supplement to the Motion to Vacate was filed. (RP. 54-9). Argument was heard by the trial court on June 25, 1986. (TP. 3-44). On June 26, 1986, the trial denied the Defendant's request for court an evidentiary hearing. (TP. 45-47). On June 27, 1986, further argument on the motion was had. (TP. 48-88). On July 1, 1986, the trial court denied the Motion to Vacate and the application for stay of execution. (RP. 74).

At all proceedings in this cause, the trial court has been the Honorable R. Hudson Olliff, Circuit Judge of the Fourth Judicial Circuit, in and for the State of Florida.

After the trial and advisory sentencing proceeding, and shortly before the sentencing hearing before the trial court, counsel learned that prosecuting attorney Ralph Greene had made twenty dollar cash payments during the trial to three state witnesses: Joan Bennett, Carl Barton, and Spencer Hance. (R. 464, T. 2526-2527). Counsel had previously made specific requests for such evidence in a

Motion for Production of Favorable Evidence (R. 44) and a Motion to Compel Discovery (R. 156-158). The prosecution admitted these payments at the argument on Defendant's Amendment to Motion for New Trial (R. 464-465). However, the payments were excused as "lunch money." (T. 2527-2530). The prosecution did not reveal that other payments were made. The trial court denied the Motion for New Trial. (T. 2530).

On July 26, 1985, the U.S. Attorney for the Middle District of Florida, Robert Merkle, forwarded to the Florida Attorney General copies of investigative reports prepared by the Federal Bureau of Investigation. These reports were FBI "Form 302" reports prepared by special agents and containing the substance of interviews with various witnesses about cash payments made by Mr. Greene to witnesses in this case. Mr. Greene had been indicted by a federal grand jury on other grounds.

It was not until April 28, 1986, that this material was mailed to defense counsel by Assistant State Attorney John Delaney. As soon as the Defendant was aware of the additional payments, the Motion to Vacate was filed. At argument on the motion, counsel requested an evidentiary hearing so that he could present evidence that several thousand dollars had been paid to witnesses in this cause. (TP. 36). The request for an evidentiary hearing was (TP. 45). After additional argument, the Motion to denied. Vacate and the Application for Stay of Execution were denied. (RP. 74).

#### ISSUE ONE

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO PERMIT AN WOULD EVIDENTIARY HEARING ΑT WHICH THE DEFENDANT PRESENT EVIDENCE THAT THE PROSECUTING ATTORNEY HAD WITHHELD REQUESTED FAVORABLE EVIDENCE OF SUBSTANTIAL CASH PAYMENTS TO NUMEROUS PROSECUTION WITNESSES, BOTH BEFORE AND DURING THE TRIAL, IN VIOLATION OF THE FIFTH, SIXTH, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE U.S. CONSTITUTION, AND ARTICLE I, SECTIONS 9 AND 16 OF THE CONSTITUTION OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA.

## ARGUMENT

## A. The Relevance of the Newly Discovered Evidence

The prosecution's evidence that Robert Parker was present at the scene of three homicides was compelling. However, the evidence as to what actually happened during the homicides was based exclusively on the testimony of Joan Bennett and Billy Long. Bennett and Long were codefendants who had made "deals" with the prosecution to testify against the Defendant. Bennett pled guilty to being an Accessory after the Fact to the murder of Jody Dalton, was released from jail before Christmas, 1981, and was eventually sentenced to probation. Long was allowed to plead guilty to second degree murder for shooting Nancy Sheppard three times in the head and twice in the chest. He received a thirty-year prison sentence, with immediate parole eligibility.

The Defendant testified in his own behalf, admitting his presence but denying any participation in the homicides. His credibility was repeatedly assailed, however, by evidence presented through collateral witnesses. These

witnesses included Spencer Hance, Morris Johnson, Wayne Johnson, Mike Green, Lewis Bradley, and Denise Long.

Clyde Morris Johnson testified that on Friday, February 5, 1982, the Defendant offered to give he and Richard Padgett some "T" (phenocycledine) for sanding down a truck. (T. 1125). They agreed, and went to the mobile home where Robert Parker was living with his ex-wife, Elaine. (Т. 1125-6). Morris Johnson said that Tommy Groover provided he and Padgett with some of the Defendant's drugs, and they all got "high." (T. 1129). Morris Johnson said that the Defendant later paid he and Padgett by giving them a gram of "Т." (Т. 1130-1). Morris Johnson testified that the Defendant's source of income was selling drugs, (T. 1132), and that Groover worked for Robert Parker by dealing drugs. (T. 1699-1700). Morris Johnson also said that Groover was afraid of the Defendant. (T. 1700). On Sunday, February 7, 1981, he had gone to the Defendant's residence to talk to him about Tommy Groover and Billy Long, and had armed himself because he was afraid of the Defendant, too. (T. 1700, 1144-5). He further testified that the Defendant always carried a gun. (T. 1701). Morris Johnson also testified that, on Friday, February 5, 1986, the Defendant had threatened Brother Caps with a gun. (T. 1133).

According to the statement he provided the FBI, Morris Johnson was paid \$100 to \$120 cash by Ralph Greene. (RP. 29)

Walter Wayne Johnson (Morris' brother) was called by the defense in the belief that his testimony would be favorable. Wayne Johnson testified that Billy Long and Tommy Groover came to his house on Saturday, February 6, 1982. (T. 1684-5). He further testified that Long was driving and that Groover was carrying a loaded shotgun. (T. 1685). The shotqun was broken open so that Johnson could see the shells (T. 1685-6). Long told Wayne that they were looking in it. for Morris Johnson and Richard Padgett because they owed Tommy money for "four quarter racks of T." (T. 1686). Wayne testified that Tommy said he was going to get the money "one way or the other." (T. 1686-7). As a result of this conversation, he was "shook up" and concerned for his brother. (T. 1687).

This testimony was important because it contradicted the testimony of Billy Long, who had described this as a friendly encounter with an unloaded gun. (T. 1365-1377). It also showed Groover acting independently of Parker. However, on cross-examination, Wayne told Ralph Greene that he was not really sure that the gun was loaded, he was just speculating because he saw shells in the car. (T. 1688). Wayne also testified that Groover was trying to collect the money for the Defendant. (T. 1689). This was a significant change from his earlier deposition when he had said he was sure the gun was loaded. (T. 1692). On re-cross, Wayne again told Mr. Greene that he was just guessing that the gun was loaded. (T. 1692). The Court acknowledged that was a

significant change in testimony. (T. 1693). Wayne said he had discussed his testimony with Mr. Greene one or two times since his deposition. (T. 1692-3).

According to the FBI interview with Wayne Johnson, (RP. 31) Greene paid him thirty dollars on six different occasions. Such evidence would have gone a long way towards explaining why Wayne Johnson's testimony went from favorable to the defense to favorable to the prosecution.

The State also called Mike Green (no relation to the prosecutor) to testify against the Defendant. Green testified that on Friday, February 5, 1982, he had gone to the trailer where Robert Parker was living and given him a .22 revolver in lieu of thirty dollars he owed the Defendant (T. 1164-1165). Green said the Defendant was for drugs. complaining about people owing him money for drugs, and waving the pistol around. (T. 1164-1165). Green claimed to have seen the Defendant threaten to hang Tommy Groover from a tree in his yard, where there was a rope with a noose in According to Green, the Defendant was it. (T. 1177). threatening to hang Groover if Groover did not pay him the money Groover owed him, and Groover promised to have the money the next day. (T. 1177). Green testified that the next day, Saturday, February 6, 1982, the Defendant had gone to see someone named Anthony, slapped him, and demanded payment of a drug debt. (T. 1181-2). Green said that Robert Parker then went to Billy Long's house, where Groover was living and told Groover he wanted his money. "today." (T.

1182 - 3). According to Green, later that day he and the Defendant and Elaine Parker went to an oyster roast at Jerry (T. 1183). Green testified that the Buruce's house. Defendant got into a fight at the oyster roast with Brother Caps over a gold necklace. (T. 1185-6). Green said he secretly unloaded the gun he had given the Defendant. (T. 1186). He said that Robert Parker then tried to shoot into the windows of Jerry Buruce's house, where there were a number of people. (T. 1186-7). According to Green, he saw the Defendant and Groover together the following Thursday, burning a portion of the rope that had been hanging in the tree. (T. 1188-90).

The testimony contradicted the Defendant's testimony in several critical respects. The Defendant stated that Tommy Groover was not working for him selling drugs, (T. 1813), though he did often "front" drugs to both Groover and Billy Long. (T. 1813-15). The Defendant considered himself to be a friend to both Richard Padgett and Morris Johnson. (T. 1816). Robert Parker insisted that Groover was not even at his house on Friday night, and that he did not threaten to hang Groover in his front yard. (T. 1821-22). The Defendant stated that Groover gave him a gold necklace and cross as collateral for the money he owed him when he saw Groover Saturday at noon. (T. 1825-7). He denied trying to shoot a gun into Jerry Buruce's house. (T. 1829-1830).

According to the FBI interview with Mike Green, Ralph Greene paid him \$100 in cash in a lump sum. (RP. 27) The

testimony of Mike Green contradicted the Defendant's in many respects. Like Morris and Wayne Johnson, Mike Green had no obvious motive to lie or slant his testimony. Because of this, knowledge of these cash payments was not just material; it was essential to show the witnesses' bias on behalf of the prosecution.

The FBI interviews also disclose additional information about payments to Spencer Hance and Joan Bennett. Spencer Hance testified that the Defendant had told him "We wasted two of them." (T. 1490-1). Joan Bennett testified, in essence, that the Defendant and Tommy Groover together planned and carried out the murder of Jody Dalton. (T. Hance indicated in his FBI interview that 1502 - 1596). Greene paid him \$80 cash and had seen that his girlfriend's traffic citation "had been taken care of." (RP. 22-3) Bennett, in her FBI interview, admitted to having received only \$20 from Greene on one occasion. (RP. 16-17) However, Hance said he witnessed Greene giving Bennett cash on two occasions. (RP. 23) Jane Sheppard, in her FBI interview, speaks of Bennett coming to see "Uncle Ralph" for "Easter money." (RP. 19-20)

In his FBI interview, Billy Long denied receiving any money from Ralph Greene. (RP. 37-8). However, State Attorney Investigator Jack Austin told the FBI that he had seen Greene give money to Long and that \$600 in cash was paid out to witnesses during Robert Parker's trial. (RP. 40-1)

Because there was no evidentiary hearing in the trial court, it could not be determined whether or how much money was paid to state witnesses Lewis Bradley, and Denise Long. Both of these witnesses testified to collateral criminal acts by the Defendant on Sunday, February 7, 1982, and contradicted portions of the Defendant's testimony. (T. 1597-1648).

# B. The Issue Was Not Previously Litigated

On direct appeal, the Defendant asked for a new trial because the State had failed to disclose that it had paid \$20 cash to three witnesse: Joan Bennett, Spencer Hance, and Carl Barton. This court found that this issue was "...insufficient to require reversal." <u>Parker v. State</u>, 458 So. 2d 750, 752 (Fla. 1984). This resolution may be understandable considering the small amounts of money known at the time, and considering the inescapable conclusion that, in light of the third degree murder verdict as to the death of Jody Dalton, the jury did not believe Joan Bennett anyway.

It is important to note that, at the motion for new trial, and even on direct appeal, the State continued to maintain silence regarding other, much more substantial payments. To this day, the extent of these payments has not been disclosed. Surely the State should not be permitted to refuse to reveal favorable evidence and then claim the issue has been litigated because counsel was able to discover some small portion of it and complain about it earlier.

It is well-settled that a denial of favorable evidence a cognizable issue under Florida Rules of Criminal is Arango\_v. State, 437 So. 2d 1099 (Fla. Procedure 3.850. 1983). It is equally well-settled that payments of money to government witnesses is favorable evidence that must be U.S. v. Bagley, 105 S. Ct. 3375 (1985). Where disclosed. the allegations in the motion make out a prima facie case that favorable evidence was not disclosed, an evidentiary hearing is required to determine the materiality of the Arango, supra. Counsel repeatedly stated at violation. arguments before the trial court that his sources indicate that thousands of dollars was paid to witnesses in this The State did not deny or affirm the extent of the case. payments, but argued against being required to produce its records of the payments. The allegations must then be considered as true except to the extent that they are conclusively rebutted by the record. Harich v. State, 484 So. 2d 1239 (Fla. 1986). It is important to note that the allegations of substantial payments have never been denied; the State has simply "stonewalled" the issue by refusing to reveal the extent of the payments. At the very least, a full and fair evidentiary hearing is required at which the testimony of the named witnesses, the records of the State Attorney's Office, and the testimony and records of Ralph Greene can be presented so that the full extent of the payments to these witnesses can be determined. An assessment of the materiality of favorable evidence can

hardly be made without the finder of fact knowing what it is.

## C. The Payments Cannot Be Analogized to "Witness Fees"

The payment of witnesses is governed by statute in Florida, and is limited to five dollars per day plus six cents per mile, unless the witness is in another county <u>and</u> more than 50 miles from the courthouse. Section 92.142(1), <u>Florida Statutes</u>. Per diem and travel expenses must be approved by the Court. <u>Id</u>. The payments to the witnesses in this case were according to the FBI interviews, <u>cash</u> payments, <u>without receipts</u>, and <u>in addition</u> to statutory witness fees paid by the clerk.

# D. This Cause Is Not Governed By Groover v. State, 11 FLW 239 (Fla. 1986)

After Robert Parker filed his Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence, Groover's attorneys attempted to use the same material in a Motion to Vacate filed on Groover's behalf. This Court ruled that no evidentiary hearing was required because a review of the record showed that, had the evidence been disclosed, there was no reasonable probability that the result would have been different. <u>Groover v. State</u>, 11 FLW 239, 240 (Fla. 1986).

This Court's position in <u>Groover</u> is understandable. The evidence against Groover was overwhelming. Not only had Groover provided the State with a 58 page sworn statement that was introduced in evidence against him, he had given a 245 page deposition that was also used against him. Morris and Wayne Johnson were insignificant witnesses in Groover's

trial who testified about matters that were not in dispute. Mike Green did not testify in Groover's case at all.

Most of the payments described in the FBI interviews occurred during Parker's trial, not Groover's, and therefore could have had no relevance. There was no basis to conclude that these payments could "undermine confidence in the outcome" of Groover's trial. Bagley, supra, at 3384.

However, this rationale has no application to the evidence in Robert Parker's trial. As has been shown, Morris Johnson, Wayne Johnson, Spencer Hance, and Mike Green important witnesses used by the prosecution were to discredit Robert Parker's character and testimony. The trial boiled down to a test of credibility between the Defendant on the one hand and Joan Bennett and Billy Long on the other. Any witness that could have caused the jury to discredit Parker was important for the prosecution, and they were doubly important where they had no apparent reason to lie or shade their testimony. Only now has it become known that there was such a reason.

Parker's trial was also unlike Groover's because, in Parker's trial, Assistant State Attorney Ralph Greene deliberately deceived the judge and jury as well as defense counsel.

During jury selection, the following occurred:

MR. LINK: Okay. You Understand that the Judge will tell you that you should receive testimony of someone

who claims to have been an accomplice with great caution, you think you can follow that instruction? MR. DYAL: Yes, sir.

MR. LINK: You understand basically what I have been saying about what I am getting at?

MR. DYAL: Right.

MR. LINK: Yes, sir.

A JUROR: Let me understand what you are saying. First of all, you are going to tell us that a person has been bribed to make a confession or to make a statement. All right. Then you are saying that this person is going to be brought before us to make a testimony. Right?

MR. LINK: Essentially, yes, sir.

MR. GREENE: Your Honor, I object to that. These people haven't been bribed at all. They have come in here and pled guilty. This man is misconstruing it and Mr. Link is agreeing with his assessment.

THE COURT: Yes. Gentlemen, just one moment. The word that was used was confirmed by Mr. Link as bribe. No one has been bribed, we don't accept any bribe testimony in this court from anyone.

MR. LINK: I would --

THE COURT: It is not legally acceptable in court. Mr. Greene has stated that a defendant has negotiated a plea in this case and that will be brought out to you during the course of the trial, but there is no bribery

involved. And if you think that that's what's been done, put that out of your mind. You want to ask the question -- if you don't understand anything further beyond that, you can ask the question if you'd like to do so.

A JUROR: Okay. Your Honor, what I am trying to clear in my mind was what I thought I understood a person had been paid to give testimony.

THE COURT: No, sir, no one has been paid for anything. A JUROR: Well, that clears that up.

MR. LINK: What we are getting at, someone has been given a deal in a sense that charges have been reduced against him in order that he might -- he will testify. A JUROR: I'm straight.

MR. LINK: Okay. It relates to sentencing. May we approach the bench, Your Honor?

THE COURT: No, sir. Let's move along, Counselor.

MR. LINK: Judge, I would have to object to the Court's characterization in stating the witnesses have not been bribed. I think that's a question for the jury to decide to whether it is bribery.

MR. GREENE: I am appalled at Mr. Link's characterization. It upsets me. I'd ask the Court to instruct Mr. Link --

MR. LINK: I object.

MR. GREENE: --to cease and desist from using such language or characterizing it in any way at all,

instruct them to disregard it and instruct Mr. Link to cease it. There's no bribe here, he knows that.

THE COURT: I have ruled on it, go on, you have made your objection, Mr. Link. Let's move along.

As demonstrated clearly in the record, a juror asked, in the presence of the entire venire, if "a person had been paid to give testimony;" The trial court judge, because of Greene's objections, told the juror that "no one has been paid for anything." (T. 730). As we now know, nothing could have been further from the truth. Numerous witnesses had been given cash payments in addition to statutory witness fees, yet the jury heard the judge announce that no one had been paid for anything. There was no attempt to correct the statement of the trial court judge by the prosecution, and the defense had to accept that statement throughout the trial.

The theme of the defense in this case was that the State had purchased the testimony to use against the Defendant. This theme was mentioned by the defense in opening statement (T. 921, 923) and in summation (T. 2191, 2217-19).

During the State's summation, the prosecutor argued at some length about the importance of Morris Johnson's testimony (T. 2131-2137). Greene emphasized the witnesses whose testimony "makes him (Parker) out to be an unmitigated liar.": Morris Johnson, Mike Green, Billy Long, Lewis Bradley, Denise Long, Carl Barton, Spence Hance. (T. 2137).

It is noteworthy that all of these were paid by Greene, with the possible exception of Denise Long. Greene referred to Mike Green as a "key witness" (T. 2137). Later in summation, Greene argued that Mike Green and Morris Johnson "are really truthful," (T. 2141), because:

...they had no interest in the outcome of this case, they had been given absolutely nothing. And they came in here and they laid it on the line. They told you this man is intimidating, that this man is the ring leader, the puppeteer, he's the guy holding the leash, he's the guy that has the gun, he's the guy that people are afraid of, he's the man building the drug empire, a wounded man. (T. 2142)

Later in his argument, Greene referred to Spencer Hance and Carl Barton as "two really totally unbiased witnesses for the State." (T. 3155).

The above arguments by the prosecutor were blatant misrepresentations of the truth, based upon what we now know. These same misrepresentations were given the sanctions of the Court, who had earlier told the jury venire that "no one has been paid for anything."

The prejudicial effect of these misrepresentations was emphasized even further in the summation of Mr. Austin, when he reminded the jury of the judge's statements during jury selection and stated that the use of the term bribery was improper. (T. 2253). Mr. Austin argued that these collateral witnesses were sufficient to prove the State's case even without Billy Long and Joan Bennett, (T. 2261), and that they were "untouched" as to having any interest in the case. (T. 2270). (Indeed, they were untouched, because the defense was not aware they were being paid.) In talking

about the witnesses presented by the State, Mr. Austin stated that "...we brought them to you honestly and in good faith." (T. 2274). Though these comments were probably not intentional misrepresentation, the effect was the same.

## E. The Legal Standard to be Applied

The prosecution contends that this Court should apply the standard of materiality described in <u>U.S. v. Bagley</u>, supra, for the failure to reveal favorable evidence after a specific request: "...if there is a reasonable probability that, had the evidence been disclosed to the defense, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Id., at 3384. While it is submitted that, under the circumstances of this case, this standard is satisfied, it is also submitted that this is not the correct standard.

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