IN THE

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT,

CASE NO. 1

ROBERT LACEY PARKER,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH ATTORNEY GENERAL

HENRI C. CAWTHON ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-0600

MARK C. MENSER ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-0600

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court did not err in summarily disposing of issues previously argued on direct appeal and, in any event, clearly refuted by the record.

Parker's so-called "Brady" issue was disposed of on direct appeal.

Parker's Enmund claim is not justified as a "change in the law" because Enmund was decided in 1982, seven months before this case was tried, and over a year before appellate briefs were filed. Insofar as Enmund could have been argued, but was not, the issue is procedurally barred. Even so, the claim is clearly refuted by the record given Parker's obvious knowledge that someone would die, his intent to kill and his actions (including taking a knife and slitting the victim's throat).

Parker's <u>Spaziano</u> claim contends that this Court is arbitrary and capricious in its handling of capital cases. In addition to its facial lack of merit, the claim must fail because (1) Circuit Courts cannot review Supreme Court action and (2) in truth, the claim is really just an improper effort to reargue the sentencing issues disposed of on appeal.

ARGUMENT I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN SUMMARILY DISPOSING OF PARKER'S "BRADY" CLAIM

Parker's motion for post-conviction relief improperly attempted to reargue an issue litigated, and lost, on direct appeal. In an effort to overcome this procedural bar, Parker tried the discredited practice of substituting new or additional "facts" (here, the names of additional witnesses).

The trial court did not specify the basis for its summary disposition but, if the court was correct for any reason, its decision must be affirmed, Stone v. State, 481 So.2d 478 (Fla. 1985). More than one basis for affirmance is present in this case.

The cases of <u>Shriner v. Wainwright</u>, 735 F.2d 1236 (11th Cir. 1984) and <u>Straight v. State</u>, 11 FLW 227 (Fla. 1986) clearly state that it is improper to attempt to reargue a previously litigated claim by substituting new or additional facts behind an old argument. That is precisely the gambit played by Mr. Parker.

As Parker, or any reasonable person, has probably known all along, no witnesses were "bribed" but, if some were compensated for expenses, then probably all were. Parker used the names of only a few witnesses during his appeal. Having lost, he now relies upon payments to other, lesser, witnesses in an attempt to

reargue his appeal.

Should Parker ever attempt another petition, will other names be used to support a third reargument? Hopefully not, since even the petition at bar was improper and was subject to summary dismissal. Just as motions filed pursuant to Rule 3.850 are not substitutes for appeal see e.g. Thomas v. State, 11 FLW 174 (Fla. 1986); McCrae v. Wainwright, 439 So.2d 868 (Fla. 1983), so too, they do not permit limitless reargument of appellate claims.

The trial court's decision is, of course, clearly supported by the record (just as it was on direct appeal).

It is standard practice in most, if not all, jurisdictions for prosecutors and defense attorneys to compensate witnesses for mileage, travel expense, meals and possibly lodging. Indeed, despite his reciprocal discovery obligation, Mr. Link has yet to reveal payments made to his own witnesses, (if any). Confronted with this at the trial itself, Mr. Link did not deny the practice. (ROA 2528-2530)

There is a fundamental difference between "paying" for testimony and simply reimbursing expenses. The mere payment of meal and travel expense is not and never has been Brady
material. First, it is not "exculpatory evidence tending to negate the guilt of the accused". Second, this information is

available simply by asking the witness if he has been paid.

Thus, the information is not "exclusively in the control of the State". Halliwell v. Strickland, 747 F.2d 607 (11 Cir. 1984);

James v.State, 453 So.2d 786 (Fla. 1984)

An adroit defense lawyer will not try to mislead the jury by implying that expense money is a "bribe" for obvious reasons. While counsel may, on cross, get a witness to say he received cash, the state will easily rehabilitate the witness on redirect. The net result, of course, is jury resentment of defense counsel's effort to mislead them.

Mr. Link, as an excellent lawyer, knew (and knows) full well that this so-called "evidence" would not have been used at trial even if he had known about it. The sums, contrary to his "surprise" post-trial, are not unusual given the fact that these witnesses had to appear in two trials (Groover and Parker) over an extended period of time, in a foreign city.

Thus, this evidence was not "exculpable". Similarly, it was not even "material" under <u>United States v. Antone</u>, 603 F.2d 566 (5th Cir. 1979) and <u>United States v. Bagley</u>, 473 U.S. . 87 L.Ed.2d 481 (1985). Its absence from the trial in no way undermines the result. Indeed, it would have been a significant strategical error to have tried to use it, as noted above.

Therefore, just as this issue was rejected in Groover,

supra, so too it must fail here.

ARGUMENT II

THE COURT PROPERLY DISPOSED OF APPELLANT'S ENMUND CLAIM

Appellant's claim that the Eighth Amendment forbids the imposition of the death penalty for his involvement in the murder of Nancy Sheppard must also be dismissed on procedural grounds.

The case Appellant relies on in support of his claim,

Enmund v. Florida, 458 U.S. 782, 73 .L.Ed.2d 1140, 102 S.Ct. 3368

(1982), was decided more than seven months before jury selection

began in this case and well over a year before Appellant filed

his brief on direct appeal to this Court. As stated earlier,

motions for post-conviction relief are not substitutes for direct

appeal and are not vehicles to argue points which could have and

should have been raised at trial or in the appellate court.

Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.850.

Respondent would submit that an <u>Enmund</u> claim was not raised earlier for the obvious reason it lacked any merit whatsoever.

Thus, even if this Court were to review this claim, it should be denied on the merits.

In Enmund v. Florida, the United States Supreme Court ruled that the Eighth Amendment forbids the imposition of the death penalty on someone "who aids an abets a felony in the courts of which a murder is committed by others but who does not himself kill, attempt to kill, or intend that a killing take place or

that lethal force will be employed." 458 U.S. 797. It is submitted that Appellant's own testimony implicates his <u>intent</u> to voluntarily assist in the murder of Nancy Sheppard.

Enmund was convicted of the first degree murder of Thomas and Eunice Kersey during the commission of a robbery in which Enmund drove the get-away car. As stated by the United States Supreme Court:

As recounted above, the Florida Supreme Court held that the record supported no more than the inference that Enmund was the person in the car by the side of the road at the time of the killling, waiting to help the robbers escape. This was enough under Florida law to make Enmund a constructive aider and abettor and hence a principal in firstdegree murder upon whom the death penalty could be imposed. It was thus irrelevant to Enmund's challenge to the death sentence that he did not himself kill and was not present at the killings; also beside the point was whether he intended that the Kerseys be killed or anticipated that lethal force would or might be used if necessary to effectuate the robbery or a safe We have concluded that the escape. imposition of the death penalty in these circumstances is inconsistent with the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments. (Emphasis added).

458 U.S. at 788. This is easily distinguishable from the instant case in which a review of Appellant's self-serving testimony indicates that he knew of Defendant Tommy Groover's plan to murder Sheppard, believed Billy Long also knew of the

plan, was the person to whom Groover owed the drug money (and victim Richard Padgett in turn owed Groover), and participated in the kidnapping and murder of Padgett. All the evidence points to the fact that Sheppard was killed to cover up the murder of her Thus, even under Appellant's theory, he is a boyfriend Padgett. perpetrator of the underlying felony and a principal of the Goodwin v. State, 405 So.2d 170 (Fla. 1981); Adams v. homicide. State, 341 So.2d 765 (Fla. 1976), cert. den., 434 U.S. 878 (1977). It is unnecessary to consider the overwhelming evidence (outside of Appellant's self-serving testimony) which reveals Appellant to be the ringleader of the drug dealing conspiracy and the instigator of the three murders resulting from nonpayment of drug money. Thus, it is clear that any attempt to raise an Enmund claim at trial or on direct appeal would have been futile.

In <u>Cabana v. Bullock</u>, 474 U.S. ___, 88 L.Ed.2d 704, 106

S.Ct.___ (1986), the United States Supreme Court reaffirmed its

decision in <u>Spaziano v. Florida</u>, supra, in which it rejected the

argument that a defendant has a constitutional right to have a

jury consider the appropriateness of a capital sentence. 88

L.Ed.2d at 716. In addressing an Enmund claim, the Court stated:

Moreover, the decision whether a sentence is so disproportionate as to violate the Eighth Amendment in any particular case, like other questions bearing on whether a criminal defendant's constitutional rights have been violated, has long been viewed as one that a trial judge or an appellate

court is fully competent to make. See, e.g., Solem v. Helm, 463 U.S. 277, 77 L.Ed.2d 637, 103 S.Ct. 3001 (1983); Weems v. United Staes, 217 U.S. 349, 54 L.Ed.2d 793, 30 S.Ct. 544 (1910).

88 L.Ed.2d at 716. The <u>Cabana</u> decision also enunciated the standard of review in a federal habeas claim:

Accordingly, when a federal habeas court reviews a claim that the death penalty has been imposed on one who has neither killed, attempted to kill or intended that killing take place or lethal force be used, the court's inquiry cannot be limited to an examination of jury instructions. Rather, the court must examine the entire course of the state-court proceedings against the defendant in order to determine whether, at some point in the process, the requisite factual finding as to the defendant's culpability has been made.

88 L.Ed.2d at 717, (emphasis added).

In the case at bar, the trial court noted that immediately after forcing Billy Long to kill Nancy Sheppard by threatening to kill Long in her place Appellant cut the victim's throat (ROA 476-483). These findings comply with <u>Cabana</u> and thus render an <u>Enmund</u> claim as meritless.

This point should be dismissed on procedural grounds because it could or should have been raised at trial or on direct appeal, or in the alternative, should be dismissed as meritless.

ARGUMENT III

THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ERR IN REJECTING APPELLANT'S SPAZIANO CLAIM

Mr. Parker, in a poorly concealed effort to use his 3.850 petiton as a rubric to reargue his appeal, asked the Circuit Court to:

- (A) Engage in <u>de novo</u> "proportionality review" of his sentence, and
- (B) Enter an order reversing the Florida Supreme Court after reviewing the propriety of this Court's conduct, despite <u>Hoffman v. Jones</u>, 280 So.2d 431 (1973).

Since it cannot seriously be alleged that Circuit Courts can sit in judgment of the Supreme Court, it is clear that that portion of the Appellant's argument is without merit.

Nevertheless, the State is concerned with Parker's accusations that this Court "ignores" the record and "arbitrarily and capriciously" decided capital cases.

Parker does <u>not</u> allege personal bias (against him) by this Court, so his words were carefully chosen.

"Arbitrary" means that the decision was rendered by a judge acting on a whim, as a despot. see Webster's II, New Riverside
University Dictionary, (1984) Similarly, "caprice" means "on impulse" or a "whim". id. The State does not accept this

assessment of the operation of the Supreme Court.

The real matter before the Circuit Court was Parker's desire to reargue the issue already resolved on appeal, to wit: his death sentence.

Motions for post-conviction relief do not exist for the purpose of endless reargument of appellate claims. Thomas v. State, 11 FLW 174 (Fla. 1986) see Adams v. State, 11 FLW 94 (Fla. 1986).

In the absence of record support for his accusations against the justices of this court, and given the true nature of Parker's complaint, summary dismissal was entirely proper.

CONCLUSION

Mr. Parker has failed to demonstrate any legal basis for relief.